IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-CA-00948-COA

CHRISTOPHER WADE ELLIOTT

APPELLANT

VERSUS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MARION COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

A. RANDALL HARRIS, MSB # P.O. BOX 2332
MADISON, MS 39130
601-454-7242

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2008-CA-00948-COA

CHRISTOPHER WADE ELLIOTT

APPELLANT

VERSUS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Christopher Wade Elliott was indicted for a charge of sexual battery and was appointed a lawyer to represent him. This charge represents the only felony charge in his 31 years of his life (C.P. 64 #8). He was sentenced to serve a mandatory twenty (20) years in prison for a sex act with a girl he had previously been sexually active with, who invited him into her home voluntarily, who was high on marijuana and methamphetamine at the time of the alleged offense, and a girl who became incensed when he, in her presence, telephonically told another girl he was on his way to see her (C.P.16-18). In retaliation and jealously, she bit his penis causing him to black out and once he regained his senses and fled her home, she lodged a criminal complaint against him, claiming he had forced her to perform oral sex on him.

Though appointed a lawyer on this serious charge, the representation of the attorney amounted to no representation at all. The attorney never discussed the merits of the case with him at all (C.P.16). Upon information and belief, the attorney never investigated any aspect of the case. He failed to gather impeaching convictions in the Marion County Justice Court signaling that the complainant had thrice been convicted of crimes of dishonesty (C.P.67-69). He further advised Appellant that if he just pleaded guilty, the Judge would literally suspend the

sentence and he would spend no days in jail (C.P. 17-18). He never advised Appellant that upon pleading guilty, he would be deemed a sex offender for the rest of his life.

During the guilty plea, when Wade Elliott got the first opportunity to discuss the merits of the case, the discussion was with the Judge. When asked if he forced his penis in her mouth, and if that was the truth, he responded, "Not according to me, it's not" (C.P. 51 L.10). When the Judge delved further to satisfy himself that the allegation against Wade was the truth, Wade responded, "No, sir, it's not the truth" (C.P. 51 L.19). He then acquiesced and informed the Judge that he was pleading guilty because he was advised (by this attorney) to take the plea (C.P. 51 L.22).

During this disagreement with the Judge, Wade's attorney stood silent. He never uttered a word. He furthermore did not pull Wade aside and discuss whether he did want to plead guilty or not based on the revelations he heard in open court. Likewise, during the sentencing phase, his attorney offered no statement at all. He could have told the Judge that Wade had had relations with the complainant before. He could have stated that the girl was high on methamphetamine and marijuana. He could have told the Judge that a background check of the girl revealed not only crimes of dishonesty, but also a DUI conviction. He could have called witnesses, including Affiant, Martha Miller, to relate some positive aspects of Wade Elliott to the Court. Rather, his lack of investigation, his failure to fully inform himself on the merits of the case, and his failure to call even a single mitigating witness or offer even a word of mitigation resulted in Wade having no representation at all.

The guilty plea petition does not mention that Wade will be deemed a sex offender hereinafter or that he must register upon release and abide by the stringent conditions required of

a sex offender (C.P. 63-66). The Order of Conviction does not mention denominating him a sex offender or registration (C.P. 60-61). The entire plea colloquy is also silent on the mention of the word sex offender or registration).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 8.04 (A)(3) states the following:

"Before the trial court may accept a plea of guilty, the court must determine that the plea is voluntary and intelligently made and that there is a factual basis for the plea. A plea of guilty is not voluntary if induced by fear, violence, deception or improper inducement. A showing that the plea of guilty was voluntarily and intelligently made must appear in the record."

The thrust of Appellant's first argument is that his plea of guilty was not voluntary. In his affidavit accompanying his Motion for Post Conviction Relief, he details that his attorney deceived him into believing that if he pleaded guilty, he would receive no days in jail. He obviously detrimentally relied on this deception by pleading guilty to a crime he never believed in his mind that he committed. The result was a stark contrast to a suspended sentence. He is now serving twenty years in Parchman, day for day.

Appellant was subjected to ineffective assistance of counsel throughout the guilt and sentencing phase of his case. The attorney did not discuss the case with him, thereby not advising Appellant of the possible defenses he truly had in this matter. The attorney did not gather impeaching documents (convictions) of the complaining witness, although same were public record in the Justice Court of the same county wherein the allegation of sexual battery was made. As this was a case with no independent eye witnesses, no confession to the sexual battery, and a case where the credibility of the complainant was the bulk of the State's case, the failure to fully inform himself as to Appellant's version, and the complainant's dishonesty, rendered the

attorney's performance defective. Moreover, during the sentencing phase on what is ostensibly an 'open plea', the attorney did not offer a scintilla of mitigation on Appellant's behalf.

Mississippi Code Annotated §45-33-39(1) states the following:

The court **shall** provide written notification to any defendant charged with a sex offense as defined by the chapter of the registration requirements of Sections 45-33-25 and 45-33-31. Such notice **shall** be included on any guilty plea forms and judgment and sentence forms provided to the defendant. The court **shall** obtain a written acknowledgment of receipt on each occasion.

The records in this case are devoid of any of the requirements of this section. No mention of sex offender status or registration can be found in the Guilty Plea Form, Order of Conviction, or during the lengthy plea colloquy between the Lower Court Judge and Appellant. Appellant avers also that his attorney never mentioned that to him as well. This statute must be complied with in order to satisfy that plea was knowing and intelligently made, and must be adhered to in order to satisfy the dictates of the Due Process Clause of the United States and Mississippi Constitutions. Had Appellant been advised that the result of his plea would mean that he would be a sex offender for life, he would have never pleaded guilty to this less than concrete charge.

Appellant's Motion was not only summarily dismissed, but he was not even given the benefit of an evidentiary hearing on any of the issues raised.

ARGUMENT

The Lower Court erred in denying a request for an evidentiary hearing on the following issues:

Appellant's plea of guilty was involuntary in contravention to Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 8.04 (A)(3) and is filed pursuant to MCA §99-39-5(1)(f).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review pertaining to voluntariness of guilty pleas is well settled: 'this Court will not set aside findings of a trial court sitting without a jury unless such findings are clearly erroneous.' In order to meet constitutional standards, a guilty plea must be freely and voluntarily entered.". Weatherspoon v State, 736 So. 2d 419 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999).

MCA §99-39-5(1)(f) allows an aggrieved prisoner to seek Post-Conviction Relief if the guilty plea was not intelligently made and entered. Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 8.04 (A)(3) states the following:

"Before the trial court may accept a plea of guilty, the court must determine that the plea is voluntary and intelligently made and that there is a factual basis for the plea. A plea of guilty is not voluntary if induced by fear, violence, deception or improper inducement. A showing that the plea of guilty was voluntarily and intelligently made must appear in the record."

Petitioner would respectfully submit that his guilty plea was not intelligently made and was either induced by deception from his court appointed attorney or the result of prescribed medications causing confusion.

Initially, as to the attorney deception, it can be gleaned from Petitioner's affidavit that he was led to believe that a plea of guilty in this case would result in a suspended sentence (C.P. 17). Rather than receive such a suspension, Petitioner was ordered confined for twenty years without parole.

Petitioner avers that he met with his attorney in the Judge's chambers after inadvertently missing a docket call. At this meeting were prosecutors, and his defense counsel as well as the Judge. Petitioner was specifically advised by his lawyer that if he would just plead guilty to sexual battery, then he would be given a suspended sentence. Specifically, he recalls that the lawyer promised 'no days in jail'.

Petitioner would remind the Court that this was the first time he had ever been in trouble for a felony. He was entitled to rely on his attorney's advice and counsel. It is shocking that in this case, such reliance resulted in twenty years in prison. Some time after the meeting, Petitioner had a conversation with his aunt, Martha Miller. Although Ms. Miller begged him not to plead guilty to a crime he didn't commit, Petitioner assured her that he would get the promised suspended sentence (C.P.20).

Petitioner was under the influence of several prescribed medications during this meeting as well as during the plea and sentencing. To combat painful injuries received in an accident, Petitioner took Lorcet, Soma and Xanax several times daily. With Soma, a common side effect is confusion. Lorcet also lists as a common side effect that of confusion. The Xanax was prescribed to combat panic attacks. Petitioner alerted the Judge during his plea that he was taking medications.

What may appear curious about this claim is that informed attorneys in Marion County are well versed that Honorable R.I. Prichard, III does not allow recommendations as to sentencing from the prosecuting attorneys. Judge Prichard so informed Petitioner that the Judge, alone, would decide what the appropriate sentence would be in his case upon a plea of guilty. Notwithstanding, Petitioner continues to aver that his lawyer promised him a suspended sentence

if he would plead guilty. This being his first and only felony conviction, it is doubtful that Petitioner is clever enough to try and deceive the Court with a false claim of a suspended sentence. Rather, Petitioner avers such in his affidavit and is corroborated by his aunt who verifies that he told her he was getting a suspended sentence.

The only other logical explanation is that either Petitioner misheard or misinterpreted his lawyer's words and ingrained the error in his mind or the prescribed drugs he was taking caused such confusion in his mind that he stubbornly believes to this day that he was promised a suspended sentence. Whether he misheard the words or was confused, the result is the same. He did not intelligently enter this plea of guilty as is contemplated in Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 8.04 (A)(3). It makes no sense that a person would subject himself to potentially thirty years in prison, if he didn't believe he would get suspended time, especially since during the plea colloquy, Petitioner continuously expressed his lack of guilt in this case. The transcript reveals the following exchange beginning at C.P. 50 L. 26:

Q: Now, Christopher, what happened that got you indicted for sexual battery?

A: I was talking on the phone, fixing to leave and she started, you know, she started messing with me. And the next thing I know she bit me and I blanked out and I hit her.

Q: And you what?

A: And I hit her.

Q: ... I presume she's going to come over here and testify you forced her to allow you to insert your penis in her mouth and she didn't want to do that. Is that the truth?

A: Not according to me it's not.

Q: All right. Well, you understand that's what trials are all about?

A: Yes, sir. I reckon I'd say that's the truth, yeah.

O: Huh?

A: I'm going to say that's the truth.

Q: Well, I don't want you just saying something. Now, is it the truth?

A: No, sir. It's not the truth, but -

O: All right. Do you want to go onto trial on this?

A: Well, I was advised to go ahead and plead guilty (C.P. 51 L. 22).

This transcript reveals that Petitioner gave no credence to the complaining parties' version of the truth. Twice, he informed the Court that it wasn't the truth. Nevertheless, he succumbed to the guilty plea because he was advised to do so by his lawyer. Why follow such advice? Because he truly believed he was to receive a suspended sentence. It is difficult to accept that Petitioner fully understood the consequences of his plea when he is convinced that the only result will be a suspended sentence. The misperception is costing him twenty years without parole. Whether by deception of his attorney or his own mind, fairness dictates that this plea should be set aside. The Lower Court erred in denying him an evidentiary hearing on this issue.

II

Appellant was rendered ineffective assistance of counsel as there exists evidence of material facts, not previously presented and heard, that requires vacation of the conviction in the interest of justice or is otherwise subject to collateral attack and is filed pursuant to MCA §99-39-5(1)(e) and (i).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard for reviewing claims of ineffective assistance of counsel is described in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed 2d 674 (1984). The inquiry under Strickland, supra is twofold: (1) Was defense counsel's performance deficient when measured by the objective standard of reasonable professional competence, and if so (2) Was [the appellant] prejudiced by such failure to meet that standard? Moreover, "defense counsel is presumed competent and the burden of proving otherwise rests on [the appellant]." Further, "[T]his Court bases its decisions as to whether counsel's efforts were effective on the totality of the circumstances surrounding each case." This Court's scrutiny of defense counsel's performance is highly deferential. Wiley v State. 750 So. 2d 1193 (¶11) (Miss. 1999). Finally, in the context of guilty pleas, a defendant claiming ineffective assistance of counsel must show, by a preponderance of the evidence, that there is a reasonable probability that had counsel's assistance been effective, he would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial.

Bell v. State, 751 So. 2d 1035 (¶14) (Miss. 1999).

Petitioner complains of such ineffective assistance of counsel that plea must be set aside.

Essential to any representation is that the attorney be fully informed on the factual allegations of the case and if available, raise any potential defenses to the claims. Petitioner asserts in his affidavit that his attorney never discussed the merits of the case with him. Petitioner recalls meeting his attorney for the first time at a docket call. No discussions were held at this encounter. He next met with the attorney after missing the docket call, yet again no discussion ensued as to the claims lodged against him. He was in the presence of the attorney when they

filled out the petition to plead guilty, pled guilty and then was sentenced. Yet, the attorney and Petitioner never discussed the case. Although the attorney informed the Judge that he was satisfied that the State would prevail if the matter went to trial, Petitioner would submit that that statement is dubious in light of the fact that the attorney never heard Petitioner's side of the story.

Moreover, considering the averments in the affidavit as to the events as they transpired on the night set forth in the indictment, it is unthinkable that the attorney would ever advise a client in Petitioner's position to plead guilty to anything.

Had the attorney sought Petitioner's recitation of the events, he would have learned that Petitioner was invited into the home of a girl he had previously had consensual sex with. The fact that the parties had previously consented to a sexual situation casts doubt on whether there was a forcible sexual battery on the date charged. The attorney apparently never knew that the girl smoked marijuana and ingested methamphetamine in the presence of Petitioner that very night. That she was under the influence of narcotics calls into question whether the act was a consensual one or not. When Petitioner tells the Court,

"I was talking on the phone, fixing to leave and she started, you know, she started messing with me. And the next thing I know she bit me and I blanked out and I hit her" (C.P. 50-51).

encounter (messing with me) and became jealous by his talking on the phone to another girl (promising the other girl that he was on his way to see her), it makes some sense that she would retaliate by biting his penis and by self preservation he hit her and then blacked out. This again resonates matters that could have been raised as a defense, had the attorney discussed the factual details with his client. It should be noted that the State did inform the Court that the complainant

'went to the ER for minor, very minor, injuries that she sustained during the struggle (C.P. 54).

The attorney, upon information and belief, never interviewed the girl to assess whether her story was changing or to assess her credibility. Apparently, he merely read the indictment and assumed she was telling the truth. Had the attorney walked down the street to the Justice Court, he would have uncovered that the girl had previously been convicted of three separate misdemeanors (bad checks) which pursuant to the Rules of Evidence are admissible on cross examination as crimes of dishonesty. See MRE 609 (a)(2)(C.P. 67-69).

This entire case relied on the credibility of the girl as Appellant and her were the only witnesses to the alleged events. Attacking her believability with crimes of dishonest likely would have produced reasonable doubt, convincing the jury to either hang up or acquit. These crimes, coupled with the previous consensual sex and her ingestion of illegal narcotics would have all but secured a Not Guilty Verdict for the defense. Yet, unfathomably, the lawyer, whom Appellant put his trust and his future in, advises the Court that the State would prevail on the merits (C.P. 52). How can an effective lawyer so advise the Court when he has not previously fully apprised himself of all the intimate details of the evidence?

When the attorney purportedly heard for the first time his client repeatedly tell the Court that her allegations were not the truth, he stood idly by and allowed the plea to continue rather than taking his client aside, discussing the matters with him and satisfying himself that the client's claims would not prevail. His silence was tantamount to no representation at all as the client verbally jousted with the Judge.

During the sentencing phase, the attorney again stood silent as the Court hammered the client with twenty years without parole. He never offered the Court one scintilla of mitigation

which surely would have swayed the Court to a more appropriate or lenient sentence. He should have told the Court of their prior sexual liaisons and that the girl was high on illegal drugs. He should have told the Court that the girl had not just the three bad check crimes, but had also been convicted in Justice Court of DUI on two separate occasions, as well as Driving While Under Suspension For DUI (C.P. 70). He could have reminded the Court that if any injury was suffered, it was very minor and was occasioned not from his violent nature, but as a natural self-preservation reaction upon getting one's penis bitten. He could have asked some of Petitioner's family members to address the Court and relate the positive aspects of Christopher Elliott's life rather than leave the Court with the impression that he was a violent sexual offender taking advantage of some innocent girl. The failure to offer mitigation should result in ineffectiveness of counsel and entitle Appellant to at least an evidentiary hearing on this issue.

See Lynch v State, 951 So. 2d 549 (Miss. 2007)(remanded for evidentiary hearing on pcr when counsel failed to timely notice State and thereby was not allowed to call mitigation witnesses in sentencing phase of capital murder case).

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