# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CHRISTOPHER WADE ELLIOTT

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2008-CA-0948-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

# BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

# APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Elliott says his lawyer was ineffective and his plea involuntary. These claims were correctly dismissed summarily because they are substantially and materially contradicted by the guilty plea record. In this posture, they were plainly without merit.

A defendant bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence he is entitled to post-conviction relief. **Cross v. State**, 954 So.2d 497 (Ct. App.Miss. 2007). Elliott has failed to do so here.

Elliott has failed to prove, or demonstrate he can prove, by a preponderance of the evidence his lawyer's performance was deficient and that the deficiency prejudiced Elliott. **Strickland v. Washington**, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984).

In denying post-conviction relief, Judge Prichard gave great weight to statements and acknowledgments made by Elliott, under the trustworthiness of the official oath, including Elliott's assurances he had neither been pressured nor promised anything nor "mistreated, abused, coerced, intimidated, [or] threatened" and that his guilty plea was offered freely, intelligently and voluntarily, and he was "totally satisfied" with the services his lawyer had rendered. (C.P. at 26, 34)

Additional assurances of voluntariness and satisfaction with counsel's representation appear in plain and ordinary English within the four corners of Elliott's petition to enter plea of guilty where the following assertions were made, again under oath:

\* \* \* \* \*

4. I have told my Lawyer all the facts and circumstances known to me about the charges against me. I believe that my lawyer is fully informed of all such matters. My Lawyer has counseled and advised me on the nature of each charge; on any and all lesser included charges; and on all possible defenses that I might have in case.

\* \* \* \* \* \*

7. \* \* \* I also know that the sentence is up to the Court and that the 15<sup>th</sup> Judicial District does not engage in Plea Bargaining and that there is no understanding made by me and/or my attorney with the District Attorney; and further, that the District Attorney will take no part, other than providing to the Court Police Reports and other factual information as requested by the Court; and the District Attorney shall make no recommendations to the Court concerning my sentence at all

\* \* \* \* \* \*

10. I am 31 years of age. I have gone to school up to and including the 10<sup>th</sup> (Have GED) grade; my physical and mental health is presently satisfactory. At this time I am not under the influence of any drugs or intoxicants, (nor was I at the time the crime was committed except: N/A

\* \* \* \* \* \*

- 12. I believe that my lawyer has done all that anyone could do to counsel and assist me on this charge. I am satisfied with the advice and help he has given me; I understand and recognize that if I have been told by my lawyer that I might receive probation or a light sentence, this is merely his prediction and is not binding on the Court.
- 13. I plead "GUILTY" and request the Court to accept my plea of "GUILTY" and to have entered my plea of "GUILTY" on the basis of my following involvement in the crime: "I did commit the act of Sexual Battery as charged."
- 14. I OFFER MY PLEA OF "GUILTY" FREELY AND VOLUNTARILY AND OF MY OWN ACCORD AND WITH FULL UNDERSTANDING OF ALL THE MATTERS SET FORTH IN THE INDICTMENT AND IN THIS PETITION AND IN THE CERTIFICATE OF MY LAWYER WHICH FOLLOWS.
- 15. I certify that no one has predicted or estimated how much time, if any, of any sentence I receive I must serve before becoming eligible for any type of release and I understand such procedures come within the sole discretion of the Department of Corrections and/or the Office of the Governor of the

State of Mississippi, and not within the jurisdiction of the Court System.

# **AFFIDAVIT**

\* \* \* \* \* \*

AFFIANT further states that he/she fully understands everything contained in the above document and that his/her plea of Guilty is made of his/her own free will.

AFFIANT understands that any false statement made by him/her in this document could subject him/her to prosecution for perjury. (C.P. at 63-65) [emphasis ours]

These acknowledgments and assertions, made under oath, have got to stand for something else the trial judge might fall for anything.

When a defendant's claims on a motion to withdraw guilty plea are in contradiction with the guilty plea record, the trial judge, as Judge Prichard obviously did here, is entitled to rely heavily on the record of the proceedings. **Bilbo v. State**, 881 So.2d 966 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004); **Richardson v. State**, 769 So.2d 230 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000). *Cf.* **Taylor v. State**, 682 So.2d 359 (Miss. 1996); **Sherrod v. State**, 784 So.2d 256 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001).

Solemn declarations in open court presented to the judge under the trustworthiness of the official oath carry a strong presumption of verity in a post-conviction proceeding. **Turner v. State**, 961 So.2d 734 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007), reh denied. This presumption has been held to apply to statements made in sworn guilty plea petitions such as the one we have here. **Ward v. State**, 879 So.2d 452, 455 (¶11) (Ct. App. Miss. 2003).

Elliott was not denied the effective assistance of counsel during his guilty plea because counsel's performance, contrary to Elliott's position, was neither deficient nor did any deficiency

prejudice Elliott who admitted in paragraph 13 of his petition to enter plea of guilty that he did "...
. commit the act of Sexual Battery as charged." (C.P. at 65)

In ruling on this issue Judge Prichard applied the correct legal standard. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); Williams v. State, 819 So.2d 532 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001); Reynolds v. State, 736 So.2d 500 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999).

Elliott has failed to demonstrate that but for counsel's alleged sins of omission or commission, he would not have entered his plea of guilty or else the jury would have found him innocent had he gone to trial, i.e., the result would have been different. He has also failed to demonstrate the duration of his sentence would have been any different had facts in extenuation and mitigation been presented to Judge Prichard.

Finally, sex offender registration and notification required by our statute, much like parole information, early release, and the enhancing effect on a subsequent sentence, are not consequences of a guilty plea about which a defendant must be informed prior to entering a plea. Magyar v. State, No. 2007-CA-00740-COA decided September 23, 2008 [Not Yet Reported]. See also Shanks v. State, 672 So.2d 1207, 1208 (Miss.1996); Ware v. State, 379 So.2d 904, 907 (Miss. 1980); Robinson v. State, 964 So.2d 609, 613 (¶16) (Ct.App.Miss. 2007); Edge v. State, 962 So.2d 81, 87 (¶25) (Ct.App. Miss. 2007); Quinn v. State, 739 So.2d 419, 421 (¶12) (Ct.App.Miss. 1999).

In short, Elliott has failed to establish by a "preponderance of the evidence" he was entitled to any relief. Miss.Code Ann. §99-39-23(7); McClendon v. State, 539 So.2d 1375 (Miss. 1989); Todd v. State, 873 So.2d 1040 (Ct.App. Miss. 2004).

#### **ARGUMENT**

Three (3) years after stating in open court, under the trustworthiness of the official oath, his

plea was both voluntary and intelligent and he was satisfied with the advice and representation of his lawyer, Elliott changed his mind.

On September 4, 2007, Elliott filed a motion for post-conviction relief assailing, in effect, the voluntariness of his plea and the effectiveness of his lawyer, Morris Sweatt. (C.P. at 5-20)

Elliott also claimed in his motion his plea was involuntary because he was not informed by his lawyer or by the court that upon release from incarceration he must register as a sex offender in his chosen place of residence. (C.P. at 12-14)

The specific relief requested by Elliott was vacation of his plea of guilty and his mandatory sentence and a trial by jury granted. (C.P. at 14)

In his appeal to this Court, Elliott reasserts these claims.

I.

THE RECORD, CONSTRUED IN A LIGHT MOST FAVORABLE TO ELLIOTT, REFLECTS ELLIOTT ENTERED A VOLUNTARY AND INTELLIGENT GUILTY PLEA TO THE CRIME OF SEXUAL BATTERY.

# Counsel's Promise of a Suspended Sentence.

Elliott claims his plea was involuntary because his lawyer deceived him by leading him to believe that if he pled guilty to sexual battery Elliott would receive a suspended sentence and wouldn't spend a single day in jail. (Brief of Appellant at 4, 6)

Our response to this claim, once again, is provided by Justice Robertson in Reynolds v. State, 521 So.2d 914, 917 (Miss. 1988).

"Horse feathers!" 521 So.2d at 917.

According to Elliott's motion and attached affidavit, the inducement in the form of a suspended sentence was made by counsel during a meeting held in the judge's chambers. The alleged

inducement, says Elliott, was made in the presence of the judge, who had excused Elliott's allegedly inadvertent absence from a docket call, as well as the presence of two prosecutors. (C.P. at 6, 17; Brief of Appellant at 6-7)

In his appellate brief Elliott makes the following statement: "At this meeting were prosecutors, and his defense counsel as well as the judge." (Brief of Appellant at 7)

How, we ask, can this be?

This alleged inducement is not only substantially and materially contradicted by the guilty plea transcript, it is inherently incredible.

# Elliott's Equivocation.

Elliott also argues that during the plea qualification hearing he twice informed the trial judge the complaining victim's version of the incident was not the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, thereby rendering the integrity of his plea in doubt. (Brief of Appellant at 9)

According to the prosecutor's factual basis, the victim was prepared to testify that Elliott forced her to engage in fellatio during which time she bit his penis and got away from him. (C.P. at 53) While it is true that Elliott was equivocal with respect to the truthfulness of her proffered testimony that the act was non-consensual (C.P. at 51, Elliott's appellate brief relates only part of the story.

There's more.

We quote the following plea dialogue between Elliott and Judge Prichard concerning the factual basis for Elliott's plea of guilty and Elliott's response to Judge Prichard's questions and observations:

Q. [BY THE COURT:] All right. Do you want to go on to trial on this?

A. [BY ELLIOTT:] Well, I was advised to go ahead and plead guilty to it.

Q. Well, I understand that, Christopher, but I mean though I don't want you pleading guilty unless you're satisfied that if we went to trial the jury would most likely believe her because, you know, you don't have to testify. That's your decision. You can testify if you wanted to. And what's going to happen is she's going to get up here and testify, I presume that whatever happened between the two of you she wasn't willfully engaging in that activity. And then you forced it on her. And then the jury has got to determine who they believe. If they believe that she's lying they are going to find you not guilty. It's going to take all twelve of them.

So do you agree that her version of this is the one that would be most believable by the jury.

A. [BY ELLIOTT:] Yes, sir, I do.

THE COURT: All right. Now, Mr. Sweatt, of course, with... Christopher, you've had full discovery from the State of Mississippi and you know what everybody is going to testify to. And I presume that, Christopher, this is one of those where just two people were present and it's one against the other, but do you believe that if the State's evidence is believed the State would have enough proof to prove each of these cases beyond a reasonable doubt?

MR. SWEATT: I do, your Honor.

Q. [BY THE COURT:] All right Christopher, do you agree with that?

A. (DEFENDANT CHRISTOPHER ELLIOTT) I do your Honor.

THE COURT: And , Lauren, do you need to add anything to the record on Christopher's situation where we might better understand what - -

MS. BARNES: Your Honor, I would just add that on the night in question Mr. Elliott stopped by Ms. Trout's house and she did let him in and allow him to

use the telephone, which he did do. Her testimony would then be that he forced her to perform oral sex on him, that she did bite him and got away from him, ran to the back bedroom where her child was sleeping, locked herself in the bedroom and called 911. When the police arrived on the scene they found one of Mr. Elliott's shoes out in the yard where he had fled the scene and left it there. And, also, a knife was found on the property that had come from Mr. Elliott's person.

A. (DEFENDANT CHRISTOPHER ELLIOTT) I had a knife in my pocket.

MS. BARNES: They then tracked Mr. Elliott back to a friend's house - -

A. (DEFENDANT CHRISTOPHER ELLIOTT) Right around the corner.

MS. BARNES: - - by tracking down numbers on Ms. Trout's cell phone and that's where they apprehended him.

THE COURT: So her testimony if believed by the jury obviously would be sufficient to have the State prove their case beyond a reasonable doubt?

MS. BARNES: Also, Your Honor, Ms Elliott - I'm sorry, Your Honor, Ms. Trout went to the ER for minor, very minor, injuries that she sustained during the struggle. (C.P. at 51-52)

In describing the incident, Elliott told Judge Prichard he was talking on the telephone when the victim began to "mess" with him. Elliott said that after the victim, who was approximately Elliott's age, bit him he blacked out and hit the victim. (C.P. at 51)

These facts were corroborated, in part, by the prosecutor's proffered factual basis which indicated the victim did let Elliott inside the house to use the telephone; she did, in fact, bite his penis, and she was taken to the emergency room for the treatment of some very minor injuries sustained

during the struggle. (C.P. at 54)

In the end, Elliott told Judge Prichard, eyeball to eyeball, he agreed the victim's version would be the one most believable by the jury and that "... if the State's evidence is believed the State would have enough proof to prove each of these cases beyond a reasonable doubt." (C.P. at 52)

## BY THE COURT:

Q. All right. Christopher, do you agree with that?

A. (DEFENDANT CHRISTOPHER ELLIOTT) I do, Your Honor.

In addition, Elliott's actual guilt of the crime charged is reflected in paragraph 13 of the petition to enter plea of guilty where the following words appear: "I did commit the act of Sexual Battery as charged." (C.P. at 65) The indictment, of course, charged that Elliott engaged in sexual penetration by placing his penis inside Ms. Trout's mouth "without her consent and against her will." (C.P. at 4)

A post-conviction court is entitled to give great weight to statements made under oath and in open court during sentencing. **Hoyt v. State,** 952 So.2d 1016 (Miss. 2007). It may disregard claims and assertions made by a movant seeking post-conviction relief where, as in the case at bar, they are substantially and materially contradicted by the court record that culminated in the entry of a guilty plea. **Staggs v. State,** 960 So.2d 563 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007), reh denied, cert denied.

"Solemn declarations in open court carry a strong presumption of verity." McCray v. State, 785 So.2d 1079, 1081 (¶4) (Ct.App.Miss. 2001), quoting from Baker v. State, 358 So.2d 401, 403 (Miss. 1978).

We also find the following additional language in McCray where the appellant argued his guilty plea was involuntary because his lawyer promised him he would be sentenced to only three

months probation, not the twelve years he received:

In *Houston v. State*, 461 So.2d 720, 722 (Miss. 1984), the court held where the record shows that the trial court fully informed the defendant of a mandatory sentence and the defendant acknowledged the sentence, the defendant's claimed expectation of a more lenient sentence is rebutted.

In the case at bar, paragraph 7. of Elliott's petition to enter plea of guilty states as follows: "I know that if I plead "GUILTY" to this charge, the possible sentence is <u>n/a</u> year(s) minimum to 30 years maximum, imprisonment . . ." (C.P. at 64)

"[W]here an affidavit [such as the ones attached to Elliott's motion for post-conviction relief] is overwhelmingly belied by unimpeachable documentary evidence in the record such as, for example, a transcript or written statements of the affiant to the contrary to the extent that the court can conclude that the affidavit is a sham, no hearing is required [in a post-conviction proceeding.] **Mitchener v. State,** 964 So.2d 1188, 1194 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007).

# Pain Pills and Other Medications.

Elliott suggests the "only other logical explanation" for his plea of guilty is that he "misheard or misinterpreted" his lawyer's words as a result of the prescribed medications he was taking. (Brief of Appellant at 8)

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